## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

v.

Complainant, Case No. SC96031

TFB No. 1999-10,255 (12A)

DARYL JAMES BROWN,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_/

## INITIAL BRIEF

#### OF

### THE FLORIDA BAR

BRETT ALAN GEER Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 061107

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On July 14, 1999, The Florida Bar filed a formal Complaint against Respondent, Daryl James Brown. The trial was held December 7 and 8, 1999, in Punta Gorda, Florida, at which the following witnesses testified: James Anthony Malone, Donald Dean Clark, Esq., the Hon. Frederick A. DeFuria, Wendy Resnick, Daniel Whiteman, Hon. Durand J. Adams, Guy M. Burns, Esq., John M. Dart, Esq., Ted Bogusz, William G. Christopher, Esq., and the Respondent, Daryl James Brown.

On December 23, 1999, the referee issued a preliminary, unsigned report describing her factual findings. The Bar timely moved the Court to reconsider the findings or to rehear argument regarding <u>when</u> Respondent became aware that the subject misconduct was dishonest and deceitful, and violated Florida law. The referee denied the motion. Immediately prior to the sanction hearing conducted January 24, 2000, the Bar moved to reopen the evidence on the same issue, citing newly discovered evidence. The referee denied that motion.

The signed Report of Referee was issued February 22, 2000. The referee found Respondent guilty of violating Rule 4-1.2(d), Rule 4-8.4(a) and Rule 4-8.4(c), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, and recommended that Respondent be publicly reprimanded. The referee found Respondent not guilty of violating Rule 4-1.1, Rule 4-1.4(b), Rule 4-1.6(b), Rule 4-1.13(b), Rule 4-2.1, Rule 4-5.1(b), Rule 4-5.1(c), and Rule 4-8.4(b). On April 7, 2000, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar issued its decision to appeal the referee's factual findings and the recommended sanction, whereafter this appeal was timely filed.

#### The Uncontroverted Facts:

The following facts are uncontroverted: In late June, 1994, Respondent received a telephone call from James Anthony Malone ("Malone"), then-president of Riscorp, Inc. ("Riscorp"), a Sarasota-based insurance company. At the time, Respondent owned about 65% of the shares of his law firm, Brown, Clark & Walters, P.A., and Riscorp was the law firm's single biggest client in terms of revenue. In this phone call Malone asked Respondent to assist Riscorp in providing money to two political campaigns that Riscorp's founder and chairman, William Griffin, wished to favor. The two candidates were Bill Nelson, who then was running for insurance commissioner, and Tom Gallagher, who was running for governor. Malone asked Respondent to solicit and gather \$20,000.00 in personal checks made payable to the two campaigns; i.e., \$10,000.00 directed to each. Malone advised Respondent that each check could not exceed \$500.00.

As a result of this conversation, Respondent and Malone both understood and expected that Respondent, upon collecting these contributions, would reimburse the contributors for the full amount of their "contributions." Respondent and Malone also agreed that Respondent could recoup his firm's reimbursement expense by falsely inflating the hours Respondent claimed on invoices for legal work, which the firm routinely submitted to Riscorp for payment. Thus, both men understood and agreed that Riscorp would be the true source of the campaign contributions.

Not long after this communication with Malone, Respondent did exactly as he had been asked: He solicited the requested campaign contributions from six of his subordinate attorneys, five of whom were minority partners in his firm. Each attorney wrote a \$500 personal check to each of the two campaigns, and their spouses and/or family members did likewise. For his part, Respondent wrote a \$500 personal check to each campaign, as did his wife, his daughter, her husband, and each of the husband's parents. All told, Respondent gathered 37 personal checks, all written for \$500. He also wrote a law firm check to each campaign for \$500. Respondent delivered these checks to Riscorp, and Riscorp later forwarded them to the two political campaigns.

On or about the same day Respondent collected these checks, i.e., June 28, 1994, Respondent directed the firm's bookkeeper to issue bonuses solely to himself and the six attorneys who had provided contributions. As majority shareholder, Respondent had broad discretion concerning bonuses. Respondent admitted that he calculated and intended each bonus payment to reimburse its recipient for the total dollar value of the checks the attorney had submitted, including himself. In Respondent's case, he reimbursed his in-laws and his daughter and son-in-law for the contributions they had made. Respondent admitted that he knew, at the time, that the net effect of his conduct would be that the two political campaigns would receive numerous checks from several people who had not made a bona fide contribution. (RR at 4, para. 10.)

Thereafter, Respondent inflated the number of hours that the law firm invoiced to Riscorp as legal services provided by him, roughly doubling his actual time worked on at least two such invoices, the first dated September 15, 1994 and the second dated October 15, 1994. He did so intending to recoup for his law firm the reimbursement bonuses it had paid to himself and the other six lawyers. Riscorp paid the inflated invoices.

Ultimately, Riscorp and five of its officers, including James A. Malone and William Griffin, were indicted in the Northern District of Florida and later pleaded guilty to engaging in a scheme to collect and deliver fraudulent campaign contributions to candidates for federal office. (The acts that formed the basis of the federal criminal case were similar to the Florida campaign contributions herein described in that the defendants had reimbursed such contributions through bonus payments to its employee/contributors.)

The federal authorities granted Respondent immunity from prosecution in exchange for his testimony. However, because the defendants pleaded guilty, Respondent never actually testified. The federal criminal investigation generated a rash of publicity adverse to Riscorp and its officers. This adverse publicity contributed to the ultimate demise of Riscorp as a viable entity.

## The Findings Regarding What Respondent Knew and Should Have Known:

None of the above facts are disputed. As such, the referee found that "the evidence clearly and convincingly established that the Respondent knowingly or intentionally violated Rule 4-1.2(d)". (RR at 10.) The referee declared that, by participating in the aforesaid scheme, Respondent knowingly and intentionally assisted his client, Riscorp, in conduct that Respondent reasonably should have known was criminal or fraudulent. (<u>See</u> RR at 8.) The Bar does not dispute the above-stated facts nor the referee's conclusion as to what Respondent should have known.

Though she found that Respondent reasonably should have known that the convoluted reimbursement scheme he had assisted his client to engage in was criminal or fraudulent, the referee also considered that Respondent "may not have known" that the subject misconduct was criminal or fraudulent when Malone explained it to him, or when he engaged in it himself. (RR at 5, para. 13.)

The referee's rather diluted conclusion that Respondent lacked sufficient *mens rea* prompted her to recommend a public reprimand as the appropriate sanction for the two major rule violations she did find. The Bar contends that, given the uncontroverted facts, a reprimand is too lenient a sanction regardless of whether Respondent's scienter is proven.

## The Conflict Between Respondent and James Malone Regarding Respondent's Scienter

One conflict in the evidence bearing directly on the issue of Respondent's guilty knowledge derives from Respondent's assertion that, despite having the subject behavior fully explained to him by Malone in late June, 1994, and despite engaging in the conduct himself at that time, he did not realize that the conduct was criminal, or fraudulent, or even improper, until early October, 1994. The referee credited this testimony by Respondent, which the Bar argues is unworthy of belief.

Conversely, James A. Malone testified as follows: In 1994, Riscorp encouraged a healthy, ongoing competition between Respondent's law firm and a Tallahassee law firm run by Thomas Maida, Esq. In essence, the two law firms were continually vying for the prize of being Riscorp's "favored" law firm. (See TR-1, pp.88-90.) Malone testified that William Griffin prompted him to ask Respondent to help out with the Nelson and Gallagher contributions because Riscorp couldn't raise the amounts needed through its own employee contribution/reimbursement practice.

Malone stated that, when he called Respondent in late June, 1994, he told Respondent that Riscorp solicited and collected political campaign contributions from certain of its trusted employees and had reimbursed those contributions by paying "bonuses". Malone further testified that, when he asked Respondent to engage in the subject conduct in June, 1994, Respondent demurred at first, and questioned the legality of the described practice. Shortly thereafter, Malone testified, Respondent faxed over to him the text of <u>Florida Statutes</u> Section 106.08, which prohibits the practice Malone had described, and identifies it as a crime, which, if engaged in by a corporation, can result in forfeiture of the corporate charter.

Next, Respondent came over to Malone's office and forcefully communicated his concern that Riscorp had violated that law. Respondent and Malone discussed the statute in person, including the provision therein regarding forfeiture of a corporate charter as a possible penalty. Respondent strongly advised that Riscorp discontinue the practice, but Malone felt Respondent was overreacting. Malone suggested that Respondent contact Thomas Maida about his concerns. Malone testified that, in matters involving politics, he trusted Maida's advice, and Maida had never advised him that it was illegal to reimburse employees' political contributions using bonus payments. Malone said he was surprised at Respondent's reaction, and he urged Respondent to speak to Maida about the practice. (TR-1, pp.96-98.)

A short while thereafter, Respondent contacted Malone and told him he had, indeed, spoken with Maida about the matter, whereupon Respondent advised Malone that he would in fact engage in the conduct. As the uncontroverted facts show, Respondent did engage in the subject conduct in late June, 1994.

For his part, Respondent does not deny that he researched the pertinent statute and remonstrated with Malone about not engaging in the subject conduct. Respondent, however, denies that this remonstration occurred when Malone says it did, i.e., in June, 1994, when Malone initially explained and requested, and Respondent ultimately engaged in, said conduct. Respondent asserts that he did not become aware of the illegality of the conduct until some four months after Malone had explained it and he himself had engaged in it. At its core, Respondent's testimony was that he negligently engaged in the conduct without realizing there was anything improper or wrong with it. As stated, the referee credited Respondent's version.

## The Conflict Between Respondent and Donald Clark Regarding Respondent's Scienter

The evidence also diverged materially on another issue bearing on Respondent's guilty knowledge. This second testimonial conflict occurred between Respondent and his law partner, Donald Dean Clark, Esq. The issue is whether Respondent explained to his six junior attorneys in late June, 1994, that the law firm would pay them "bonuses" as reimbursement for their collected campaign contributions, and whether Respondent informed them that Riscorp would reimburse the firm for its bonus outlay.

Respondent testified that each of his six subordinate attorneys knew that their contributions would not actually cost them anything; i.e., they knew their contributions would be reimbursed by a check from the law firm, and also that the firm would be reimbursed by Riscorp. (TR-2, pp.199-202.) However, Donald Clark, one of the six contributors, testified that to his knowledge, he and his family members were making legitimate campaign contributions at the behest of the law firm's biggest client in June, 1994. Mr. Clark, who remains Respondent's law partner, testified that Respondent never explained that the bonus given on or about that same day had been calculated and intended to reimburse the contributions, nor did Respondent explain that the law firm would in turn be reimbursed through false billings to Riscorp. In other words, Mr. Clark flatly denied that Respondent ever expressed any hint that his and his family's contributions would be reimbursed or that Riscorp would reimburse the firm for reimbursing him. (TR-2, pp.144-154.)

Ultimately, the referee found Respondent not guilty of violating Rule 4-5.1(b) and 4-5.1(c). She based that ruling on a lack of proof that any of the subordinate attorneys did anything wrong. (RR at 9-10.) As such, the referee tacitly credited Clark's testimony that his participation was unwitting, without any explanation by Respondent. Therefore, Respondent's testimony on this same point was not credited.

Thus, the Report poses a dilemma: How to reconcile the referee's finding of Respondent's credibility in the conflict involving Malone with her finding of Respondent's lack of credibility in the conflict involving Clark? The solution to this dichotomy can be found only by recognizing that the referee is incorrect on one of the two competing credibility calls herein described. This Brief will prove that the referee was correct in crediting Clark's testimony over Respondent, but clearly incorrect in crediting Respondent over Malone.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The arguments in this brief are fourfold, and proceed as follows:

1) The material testimonial conflicts (discussed supra) cannot be decided in favor of Respondent and in that respect the findings of the Report of Referee must be modified. The findings should reflect that Respondent actually knew that the subject conduct was fraudulent or criminal when he engaged in it in June, 1994, and that his testimony to the contrary, about experiencing a sudden epiphany of the wrongfulness of the conduct some four months later, is not credible.

2) Because the material testimonial conflicts cannot be decided in favor of Respondent, Respondent's scienter is established and he is thus guilty of violating several pleaded rules for which the referee found him not guilty; specifically, Rule 4-8.4(b), Rule 4-1.13(b), Rule 4-1.6(b), and Rule 4-2.1. Even if the Report should stand, Respondent nonetheless violated Rule 4-1.1 when he failed to recognize or advise his client that the proposed conduct was wrongful.

3) Even if the Report stands as is, the recommended sanction is not consistent with the purposes of Bar discipline, and it is not consistent with the Standards or relevant case authority; the appropriate sanction under the referee's findings is a 1-year suspension from the practice of law.

4) If the Report's findings are modified as the Bar urges

herein, disbarment is the appropriate sanction for Respondent's misconduct.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS REGARDING RESPONDENT'S SCIENTER IN JUNE, 1994.

A. <u>Clear and Convincing Evidence Proves that</u> <u>Respondent Knew the Subject Misconduct was</u> <u>Wrongful When His Client Explained it to Him</u> <u>and When He Engaged In It.</u>

The Report of Referee asks the reader to believe that when the "convoluted scheme" was explained to Respondent in detail by James A. Malone, in late June, 1994, and even when he actually participated in the scheme shortly thereafter, Respondent did not realize that the scheme was fraudulent or criminal. From an evidentiary, experiential, and logical basis, this finding strains credulity.

In attorney discipline proceedings, the referee is in a unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses, and her judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned absent clear and convincing evidence that her judgment is incorrect. <u>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</u>, 582 So. 2d 1177, 1178 (Fla. 1991). In this case, the Bar respectfully argues that the referee's judgment regarding Respondent's credibility was not correct, because clear and convincing evidence to the contrary proves that his testimony was not credible.

As the referee noted, Respondent admitted that he knew at the time, in June, 1994, after collecting the contribution checks, that he would reimburse the contributors for the full amount of their "contributions." Respondent understood that he could recoup this reimbursement expense by falsely billing Riscorp. Thus, Respondent understood that Riscorp was the true source of the requested political campaign contributions. Most tellingly, Respondent admitted that he knew, at the time, that the net effect of his conduct would be that the two political campaigns would receive numerous checks from several people who had not made bona fide contributions. (TR-2, p.211, l.11-22.)

"In cases such as this one, in order to satisfy the element of intent it must only be shown that the conduct was deliberate or knowing." <u>The Florida Bar v. Fredericks</u>, 731 So, 2d 1249, 1252 (Fla. 1999) (referring to acts of dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). The Bar will invite the Court to scrutinize Respondent's knowledge and deliberation in this record. Upon such thorough examination Respondent's intent will be proved by showing only that his conduct was <u>knowing</u> as well as <u>deliberate</u>, though the <u>Fredericks</u> analysis makes those disjunctive. Upon this thorough review a specific intent will be plastered onto Respondent despite his testimony disavowing that intent. In other words, the referee's affirmation of Respondent's credibility on the issue of his own intent must be reversed.

Logic, common sense and intuition direct the reasonable observer to conclude that Respondent did know the subject conduct was illegal at the time he engaged in it in June, 1994. It is uncontroverted that the proposed conduct was explained to him by Malone, and that Respondent did thereafter engage in the conduct. It is inherently deceptive to reimburse any "contribution", whether it is to a charity, a political campaign, or other, so that the contribution actually derives from a different source. Double reimbursement of contributions, as occurred here, is patently fraudulent, akin to money laundering. As such, any competent adult should have no trouble in identifying such conduct as fundamentally dishonest.

Respondent, however, denies that he realized such conduct was dishonest, or deceptive, or fraudulent, or criminal when Malone fully explained it to him, and when he himself engaged in it. He does not deny, however, that he intended to commit the many discrete acts necessary to perform the illegal conduct. The sum and substance of the record evidence, including Respondent's testimony, is that Respondent intended to do each immediate act necessary to bring about the intended consequences. He made and executed a plan, and his efforts were successful, in terms of achieving the expected result.

That sure sounds knowing and deliberate. The distinction Respondent makes through his testimony is subtle, and ultimately unavailing. He denies that he became immediately leery of the conduct Malone proposed (as Malone says), and he denies researching the issue soon thereafter and warning Malone that it was a crime with serious consequences. Respondent contends that he did become leery of the conduct, but not immediately -- his leeriness came four months later. He agrees that he did research the law and warn Malone that it was a crime -- however, that came four months later as well.

This then is the distinction Respondent makes by his testimony: Four months previous, when he completed all those requisite acts intending a certain result, when he made that plan and executed it, he didn't have actual knowledge that it was a crime, a *malum prohibitum*. The referee credited Respondent's assertions in this regard, and she incorporated this distinction into her view of this case, and apparently considered that it somehow mitigated or absolved Respondent's intent.

The Bar denies that this sophistic distinction carries any such force or effect, because *ignorance of the law is no excuse*. That is especially true for Respondent and any other responding attorney. Respondent doesn't stop with that distinction, though. Respondent testified that, not only did he not know that the proposed conduct was criminal, he didn't realize that anything might be wrong with it.

The Bar contends that the distinction Respondent created in this case, regarding his scienter, and upon which the referee relied, is unavailing in this matter. It is a distinction without a difference. If, for example, Riscorp had asked Respondent to do all the acts necessary to launder \$20,000.00 in cash, and Respondent had knowingly and deliberately completed all the predicate acts necessary to comply with that request, his intent cannot be vitiated or excused merely by claiming he didn't actually know it was a crime. He intended to do the crime.

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