IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant, CASE NO.: SC96031

v.

TFB FILE NO.: 1999-10,255(12A)

DARYL JAMES BROWN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Scott K. Tozian, Esquire Smith and Tozian, P.A. 109 N. Brush Street, Suite 150 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 273-0063 Florida Bar No. 253510 Attorney for Respondent

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

A. The Referee's findings are supported by Respondent's limited involvement and experience in political activities.

The Referee properly considered evidence and testimony regarding Riscorp's political background and the extent to which Respondent was involved in campaigning activities. (R.R. 2, 6). Mr. Tony Malone, who was the former President and Chief Executive Officer of Riscorp, testified about the corporation's political involvement. Mr. Malone testified that, because Riscorp was

heavily regulated by the Department of Insurance and governed by Florida Statutes, the corporation found it necessary to "play a very active role in the legislative process and [be] very active in our interaction with our regulator." (R. 36). According to Mr. Malone, politicians put a tremendous amount of pressure upon Riscorp to make contributions and the task of securing the promised amount of campaign funds was an "endless effort." (R. 73-74).

Considering the \$500 contribution limit, in order to meet its goals, Riscorp set up a framework in 1987 or 1988 for its employees to contribute to its selected political candidates and be reimbursed by the company's funds. (R. 75.) In fact, the solicitation of employee contributions was so pervasive that Riscorp routinely set aside an account of funds through which the employees could request their reimbursements in advance. (R. 72). Mr. Malone testified that in "different election cycles we might support twenty or thirty candidates and contribute to those candidates anything from a hundred dollars to \$50,000 in an election cycle." (R. 37).

Riscorp had continued in these practices with the approval of and the active involvement of one of its attorneys whose responsibility it was to advise Riscorp in political and regulatory matters. Mr. Malone testified that Mr. Tom Maida, a Tallahassee attorney, was its political lawyer who was involved

in the regulatory process. (R. 64-65, 89, 109). Mr. Malone explained that it was a common practice of Mr. Maida's firm to solicit contributions from its employees, reimburse the employees and provide the checks to Riscorp to be delivered to Riscorp's selected candidate. (R. 49, 91). Mr. Malone testified that Mr. Maida did not advise him that the practice was illegal but told him that the practice was "fairly commonplace" and that he should keep the practice "among a select, small group of people." (R. 76-77; 108). Mr. Malone further testified that in political matters, Riscorp deferred to Mr. Maida's advice. (R. 89).

In contrast, Respondent was not involved in politics and had very little experience in political matters. (R. 309).

Respondent's involvement in campaigning was limited to hosting two cocktail parties to introduce two friends who were running for office to some of his other friends. (R. 310-311). In June, 1994, Respondent had a general sense that there were statutes that governed elections and campaigning, but he had not reviewed them and was not aware of any particular statute. (R.215).

In June, 1994, Mr. Malone asked Respondent to do Riscorp a favor and solicit campaign contributions for two candidates for state office. (R. 187). It was a relatively short conversation in which Mr. Malone briefly told Respondent how Mr. Maida's firm

¹. It is strange and inconsistent that The Florida Bar finds Mr. Malone credible in his allegations against Respondent and yet found no probable cause as to Mr. Malone's allegations against Mr. Maida. (Resp. Exh. 4).

solicited and reimbursed contributions from employees and authorized Respondent to premium bill one of Riscorp's client files to which Respondent was independently devoting extraordinary efforts and attention. (R. 187-189, 204-05, 243). Respondent agreed to solicit the contributions in that same conversation. (R. 188, 316). Immediately after hanging up the phone, Respondent asked other lawyers in his office if they would make contributions. (R. 191).

Although Respondent believed that he also advised the other lawyers that they would be reimbursed for their contributions, the other lawyers did not raise any concerns regarding the legality of the request. (R. 204-05, 207, 216, 319). However, one lawyer requested his reimbursement money in advance of the contribution, so Respondent immediately authorized the bookkeeper to issue the bonus checks to reimburse the contributors. (R. 198-99).

After soliciting the contributions, Respondent resumed his work in multiple matters during what he described as a very hectic work day. (R. 193, 212). Respondent testified that the phone call and the solicitations occurred over a short time span (less than 10 minutes) in an extremely busy day and at that time, he did not recognize the impropriety of what he was asked to do. (R. 193, 212, 215). Following the June, 1994 contributions, Respondent did not solicit and reimburse any other campaign

contributions even though Riscorp continued its practice until at least 1996. (R. 74,78, 246-247, 332-334). Respondent's lack of political experience and his limited involvement in the campaign contribution reimbursement activities support the Referee's findings.

B. The Referee properly credited Respondent's testimony over the testimony of Tony Malone.

The Referee found Respondent's testimony to be credible. The Florida Supreme Court's "role is not to reweigh the evidence and substitute [its] view of the credibility of the witnesses for that of the Referee." Pellegrini at 451. As this Court has repeatedly held, "[t]he Referee is in the unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses, and [her] judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned absent clear and convincing evidence that the judgment is incorrect." See Florida Bar v. Carricarte, 733 So. 2d 975, 978 (Fla. 1999).

The Referee evaluated not only the content of the testimony, but also the manner in which the witnesses testified and responded to the inquiries. The Referee specifically made the following statement concerning her credibility assessments:

I had an opportunity to evaluate the witnesses who testified at that hearing of this matter in early December, and quite frankly, I found Mr. Brown's testimony to be very credible and candid, in that I could imagine him receiving, in the midst of a very busy day, a call from a client asking him to solicit checks, as happened in this case, and not pausing or stopping to give that further

consideration immediately on request, which is what I found happened.

(Transcript of Sanctions Hearing, Jan. 21, 2000, pp. 49-50).

The Florida Bar solely relied upon the testimony of Mr. Tony Malone to argue that Respondent was aware of Florida Statute, section 106.08 before Respondent agreed to solicit contributions for Riscorp. Mr. Malone admitted that Respondent stridently advised him of the potential adverse consequences under Florida Statutes, section 106.08. In particular, Mr. Malone testified that Respondent was "very emphatic" and Mr. Malone was surprised at how strongly Respondent reacted to his discovery of Florida Statutes, section 106.08. (R. 49, 106.) Mr. Malone further acknowledged that he thought that Respondent was acting irrationally and was "fairly dramatically overreacting" to the situation. (R. 97, 106). However, Mr. Malone contended that Respondent subsequently agreed to participate in Riscorp's contribution reimbursement practice. (R. 51). Mr. Malone's and Respondent's testimony conflicted concerning when Respondent admonished Mr. Malone to cease the practice.

When testimony between witnesses is conflicting, "the referee is charged with the responsibility of assessing the credibility of witnesses based on their demeanor and other factors." <u>Hayden</u> at 1017. The Referee, who was in the best position to evaluate the credibility of these witnesses, determined that "Respondent's testimony concerning this phone

call and when he some months later, confronted Mr. Malone about the legality of the fund raising/reimbursement practice [was] more credible than Mr. Malone's testimony." (R.R. p. 2). The Referee based her credibility assessment of the witnesses on several factors which are discussed below.

1. The Referee properly found that Respondent's testimony concerning the sequence of events was more logical than Mr. Malone's version.

The Referee determined that it was not logical that
Respondent adamantly warned Mr. Malone that the practice was
illegal and could jeopardize Riscorp's corporate charter and then
subsequently agreed to participate in the conduct. (R.R. 6). As
set forth above, Mr. Malone and Respondent both testified that
Respondent vehemently advised Riscorp to cease reimbursing
campaign contributions due to the serious and potentially fatal
consequences to Riscorp as delineated by Florida Statutes,
section 106.08. It is not believable that Respondent would
remonstrate with Mr. Malone and then agree to do the very thing
that he strenuously counseled against.

The Referee's reasoning is especially compelling when one considers the extremely limited extent of Respondent's participation in the scope of Riscorp's longtime practice.

Riscorp began reimbursing campaign contributions it solicited in the late 1980's. (R. 75). Respondent's first and only participation occurred in June, 1994 and Respondent did not

thereafter engage in these practices even though Riscorp continued the contribution reimbursement activities into at least 1996. (R. 74, 78,90, 246-247, 332-334). If Mr. Malone's testimony was accurate, one would expect Respondent to have continued his participation as well.

2. The Referee properly found that Mr. Malone had motivation to alter the date when Respondent advised him of Florida Statutes, section 106.08.

During his sentencing hearing in August, 1998, Mr. Malone first contended that Respondent advised him of Florida Statutes, section 106.08 in June, 1994. (R. 118-120). The Referee noted that Mr. Malone had the motivation to blame Respondent in an attempt to lessen his culpability during his federal sentencing. (R.R. 6). While The Florida Bar attacks the Referee's consideration of Mr. Malone's motivation by arguing that the Referee "[took] a kernel of fact and create[d] a fanciful theory," the record fully supports her reasoning. (Initial Brief, p. 25).

Mr. Malone testified that at the time he was sentenced, his paramount concern was staying out of prison. (R. 118). Mr. Malone knew that the initial conversation with Respondent in which he proposed the funding/reimbursement practice and the Respondent's contributions occurred in June, 1994. (R. 90). Mr. Malone had an obvious interest in convincing the sentencing Court that although Respondent had advised him the practice was

unlawful in June, 1994, Respondent thereafter participated in the conduct, thus impliedly suggesting that the activity was acceptable.

During his sentencing hearing, Mr. Malone represented to the Court that he had previously rationalized his misconduct by reasoning that the Maida law firm and the corporation had been doing it for a long time. (R. 104). Since Mr. Malone continued the reimbursement activity into 1996, it would have been damaging to admit that one of Riscorp's attorneys stridently advised him of its illegality in October, 1994 and thereafter refused to participate in it. Certainly, Mr. Malone would then have been foreclosed from arguing that he did not fully appreciate the seriousness of his actions.

3. The Referee properly considered Mr. Malone's selective utilization of the attorney client privilege in assessing his credibility.

The Referee was alerted to Mr. Malone's random utilization of the attorney client privilege concerning attorney Tom Maida and attorney Martin Steinberg. (R.R. 6). Mr. Malone freely disclosed portions of Mr. Maida's advice to Riscorp concerning the propriety of the contribution reimbursement practice. Mr. Malone explained that Mr. Maida had not told him that it was illegal but had warned him to be very careful and keep the

practice among a select group of people. (R. 76-77, 91, 108). In an attempt to explain how Respondent could have agreed to participate in the activity after vehemently arguing against it, Mr. Malone suggested that Mr. Maida had been instrumental in changing Respondent's point of view. (R. 51, 109).

Mr. Malone testified that when Respondent had met with him and told him that the practice must cease due to the risk of Riscorp losing its corporate charter, Mr. Malone had told him to speak to Mr. Maida. (R. 51). The Florida Bar then elicited the hearsay statement from Mr. Malone that Respondent had told him that Respondent had spoken to Mr. Maida and that Respondent would make the contributions. (R. 51). In contrast, Respondent testified that Mr. Malone had not told him to call Mr. Maida and that he had not spoken to Mr. Maida under the circumstances that Mr. Malone had described. (R. 240, 317-318).

In its Initial Brief, the Florida Bar continues to argue "if one credits Malone's version of events, it is not hard to imagine that Respondent's rival may have steered him into an uncompromising position." (Initial Brief p. 37). And truly, one would have to imagine a conversation between these two parties since the only suggestion of this occurrence was Mr. Malone's hearsay statement that Respondent supposedly had told him that he had spoken to Mr. Maida. Respondent contradicted Mr. Malone's testimony and Mr. Malone refused to waive his attorney client

privilege so that Mr. Maida could be questioned concerning this alleged conversation and potentially be called as a witness in the final hearing. (R. 123).

In addition, Mr. Malone contended that, in June, 1994,
Respondent had faxed him a copy of Florida Statutes, section
106.08 prior to their face to face conversation. (R. 48). Mr.
Malone acknowledged that those copied statutory section pages
were turned over to Mr. Martin Steinberg of the Holland and
Knight law firm, who had represented Riscorp in its public
offering. (R. 94). Again, Mr. Malone refused to waive his
attorney client privilege in order to prevent the statutory pages
from being inspected and to obstruct any questioning of Mr.
Steinberg. (R. 121).

The Florida Bar argues that it was improper for the Referee to consider Mr. Malone's invocation of the attorney client privilege in assessing his credibility. However, the Referee's evaluation focused on the unreasonable manner in which he utilized this privilege. (R.R. 6). Mr. Malone referred to documents and evidence of other conversations but used his "privilege" as a way to prevent investigation of his contentions. On the other hand, Mr. Malone freely discussed Mr. Maida's advice when he could use the statements of his attorney as justification of his behavior.

While there are distinctions between invocation of the Fifth

Amendment privilege and the invocation of the attorney client privilege, Florida courts have repeatedly held that a litigant may not make allegations and at the same time hide behind the shelter of one's right against self incrimination. See Fassi v.

American Fire and Casualty Co., 700 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); Rollins Burdick Hunter of New York, Inc. v. Euroclassics

Limited, Inc., 502 So. 2d 959, 962 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

Similarly, Complainant elicited testimony from Mr. Malone concerning Mr. Malone's interactions and conversations with

Riscorp's other attorneys and now defends Mr. Malone's invocation of his attorney client privilege to prevent the investigation of his allegations. The Referee properly considered Mr. Malone's selective use of the attorney client privilege in determining whether his testimony was credible.

4. The Referee properly found that Mr. Malone's testimony was not corroborated by any other evidence.

The Referee considered The Florida Bar's failure to corroborate Mr. Malone's version of when Respondent advised him of Florida Statutes, section 106.08. (R.R. 6). Even though The Florida Bar was aware of Mr. Malone's selective use of his attorney client privileges, it failed to conduct any investigation to verify whether Mr. Malone's statements could be corroborated or contradicted.

For example, Complainant did not explore whether Mr. Malone had waived his attorney client privileges by disclosing portions

of his attorneys' advice, whether the privilege pertaining to Mr. Maida's advice existed if his advice was obtained to enable Riscorp to commit a crime or a fraud under Florida Statutes, section 90.502(4)(a), or whether the privilege was actually his to assert since both Mr. Maida and Mr. Steinberg were corporate attorneys who represented Riscorp. Instead, it chose to simply rely upon Mr. Malone's representations as the sole proof of Respondent's knowledge of the illegality of these activities. Consequently, the Referee was not able to consider the testimony of Mr. Maida or Mr. Steinberg and could not inspect the copied statutory sections.

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